
Service Director – Legal, Governance and
Commissioning
Julie Muscroft

The Democracy Service

Civic Centre 3

High Street

Huddersfield

HD1 2TG

Tel: 01484 221000 

Please ask for: Andrea Woodside

Email: andrea.woodside@kirklees.gov.uk

Friday 4 January 2019

Notice of Meeting
Dear Member

Cabinet

The Cabinet will meet in the Council Chamber - Town Hall, Huddersfield at 
4.30 pm on Monday 14 January 2019.

This meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the Council’s 
website at the time of the meeting and follow the instructions on the page.

The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details.

Julie Muscroft
Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning

Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



The Cabinet members are:-

Member Responsible For:
Councillor Shabir Pandor Leader of the Council
Councillor David Sheard Deputy Leader of the Council and holder of the 

Deputy Leaders Cabinet Portfolio
Councillor Masood Ahmed Cabinet Member - Learning and Aspiration
Councillor Viv Kendrick Cabinet Member - Children (Statutory 

responsibility for Children)
Councillor Musarrat Khan Cabinet Member - Health and Social Care
Councillor Naheed Mather Cabinet Member - Communities and Environment
Councillor Peter McBride Cabinet Member - Economy
Councillor Cathy Scott Cabinet Member - Housing and Democracy
Councillor Graham Turner Cabinet Member - Corporate



Agenda
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached

Pages

1:  Membership of the Committee

To receive apologies for absence of Members who are unable to 
attend this meeting.

2:  Interests

The Councillors will be asked to say if there are any items on the 
Agenda in which they have disclosable pecuniary interests, which 
would prevent them from participating in any discussion of the items 
or participating in any vote upon the items, or any other interests.

1 - 2

3:  Admission of the Public

Most debates take place in public. This only changes when there is a 
need to consider certain issues, for instance, commercially sensitive 
information or details concerning an individual. You will be told at 
this point whether there are any items on the Agenda which are to 
be discussed in private.

4:  Deputations/Petitions

The Committee will receive any petitions and hear any deputations 
from members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people 
can attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also hand in a petition 
at the meeting but that petition should relate to something on which 
the body has powers and responsibilities.

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10 (2), Members of the 
Public should provide at least 24 hours’ notice of presenting a 
deputation.



5:  Public Question Time

The Committee will hear any questions from the general public.

6:  Member Question Time

To consider questions from Councillors.

7:  Healthy Weight Declaration

To ask Cabinet to support a Local Government (and Partners) 
‘Healthy Weight Declaration’ for Kirklees,  endorse the approach and 
sign off the Council’s commitment to the ‘Healthy Weight 
Declaration’

Contact:  Carl Mackie, Public Health Manager and Alison Millbourn, 
Public Health Manager, Tel: 01484 221000

3 - 12

8:  Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & Action Plan 
(2019)

To present to Cabinet the Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & 
Action Plan (2019) and to ask that Cabinet approve the Strategy 
operating from the date of Cabinet approval to the end of the 2019 
calendar year.

Contact: Steve Comb, Head of Corporate Parenting, and Stephen 
Bonnell Policy & Partnerships Officer
Tel: 01484 221000

13 - 56



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2:



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 2



1

Name of meeting: Cabinet
Date: 14 January, 2019
Title of report: Healthy Weight Declaration

Purpose of report

To ask Cabinet to support a Local Government (and Partners) ‘Healthy Weight Declaration’ 
for Kirklees (see draft Healthy Weight Declaration attached) and endorse the approach and 
sign off the Council’s commitment to the ‘Healthy Weight Declaration’

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards? 

No

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)

N/A

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny?

Yes 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name

Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance IT and Transactional Services?

Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning 
Support?

Richard Parry 3.1.19

Yes Eamonn Croston 4.1.19

Yes Julie Muscroft 3.1.19

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Musarrat Khan

Electoral wards affected: All

Ward councillors consulted: Not Applicable

Public or private: Public

Page 3

Agenda Item 7:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


2

1. Summary 

As part of a whole-system approach to tackling Obesity in Kirklees, Public Health would like 
to implement a Local Government (and Partners) ‘Healthy Weight Declaration’ for Kirklees 
(see draft Healthy Weight Declaration attached) and seeks cabinets input and agreement 
to do that.

2. Information required to take a decision

Background:

In Kirklees: 

• 1 in 5 (22%) 5-year olds and 1 in 3 (36%) 11-year olds in Kirklees were overweight or 
obese in 2016/17.

• Children aged 5 from the poorest income groups are twice as likely to be obese 
compared to their most well off counterparts. By age 11 this likelihood triples.

• Over half of all adults (56%) were overweight or obese in 2016.
• The number of obese adults is increasing.
• 3 in 5 people with a long term condition are overweight/obese.
• Severely obese people are three times more likely to use social care.

Kirklees Public Health plans to develop and implement a local ‘Healthy Weight Declaration’ 
as part of a whole-system approach to tackling obesity.

The Healthy Weight Declaration (HWD) is a way of showing commitment to a collaborative 
whole-system, policy-based approach to tackling obesity, with a specific focus on policies 
that can impact on whole populations. 

By signing up to the Declaration, the Council and its partners make a formal and public 
commitment to support its employees, residents and communities by making healthy choices 
easier.

The Declaration provides the context and rationale for the Council and its partners to review 
their policies and how they may impact on healthy weight.

The proposal for a Kirklees Healthy Weight Declaration is informed by emerging evidence of 
successful approaches in other areas such as Blackpool (see appendix below for a link) and 
St. Helens.

Between 2012 and 2015, Amsterdam’s whole system approach reduced the prevalence of 
overweight and obesity in children (0-18 years) from 21% to 18.5%.

Public Health England endorse adopting a Healthy Weight Declaration by Local Authorities 
as part of an evidence-based approach to reducing obesity.

Options:

Cabinet can support the recommendations as set out in Sections 6 and 7.

Alternatively, cabinet could choose not to support the healthy weight declaration.

Page 4



3

Cost Breakdown:

The HWD does not require additional finance to implement as it is predominantly about 
influencing and developing existing or new policies and actions within existing resources.

The publicity around the Council’s commitment to the HWD will need communication support 
and resource.

The HWD is an ongoing policy that needs to be sustained over the long-term in order to 
maximise its impact and success.

Expected impact/ outcomes, benefits & risks:

As part of a whole-system approach, the HWD will contribute towards increasing the number 
of people in the Kirklees population to be a Healthy Weight and reduce obesity levels.

By endorsing a ‘whole system’ approach to tackling obesity, the Declaration will impact on 
wider health and social issues, not just reducing obesity.

Preventing and reducing obesity as part of a whole-system approach will contribute to 
significant financial savings both to the Council and the wider system (obesity is estimated to 
cost £27 billion to UK society). It also contributes to achieving the seven Kirklees outcomes 
and a range of other priority agendas including air quality, green/open spaces, walking and 
cycling, by increasing physical activity levels.

Risks:

To be effective, a Healthy Weight Declaration needs political and senior level endorsement 
and buy-in (ideally from the Council’s Chief Executive and Council Leader as champions).

It will need sustained senior leaders buy-in from partner organisations (for example, 
endorsed and owned by the Health and Wellbeing Board), which the PH team will facilitate.

The PH team is engaging with senior level leaders, politicians and partner organisations to 
acquire buy-in.  The HWD is due to be presented to Health and Wellbeing Board on the 31st 
January.  A launch event, with partners, is planned for March.

Evaluation:

The PH team is working with Pubic Health England and an organisation called Food Active 
to develop and implement the HWD.  Food Active have developed and provided an 
Evaluation Tool in order to help the Council and its partners evaluate the impact of the HWD 
over the short, mid and long term.

Sustainability:

As highlighted previously, evidence suggests (Amsterdam whole-system approach) that to 
be effective, whole system approaches to tackling obesity need sustained senior level 
leadership and organisational buy-in over a period of time.  

As the HWD does not require additional finance to implement, as it is predominantly about 
influencing and developing existing or new policies and actions within existing resources, it is 
a sustainable approach.

Page 5



4

Services and agencies involved:

It will then require coordination of cross-sector and cross-departmental actions including 
political engagement, all council departments, schools, healthcare settings, communities, 
neighbourhoods and third and voluntary sector organisations. The PH team will provide this.

3. Implications for the Council

3.1 Working with People

HWD demonstrates a commitment to developing and implementing policies and actions that 
are aligned with place-based approaches, ‘working with, not doing to’ and working with 
partners, to create healthy (social and physical) environments.

3.2 Working with Partners

As per 3.1.  Also, as highlighted throughout this report, the HWD is a collaborative approach 
that is signed up to and owned by both the Council and its partners. 

3.3 Place Based Working 

As per 3.1.

3.4 Improving outcomes for children

As a whole system-approach to tackling obesity, the HWD aims to enable more children and 
young people in Kirklees be a healthy weight and reduce childhood obesity levels.  This will 
contribute to giving every child the Best Start in life.  The Declaration sets out a number of, 
policy-based, commitments (see draft Healthy Weight Declaration attached) that the 
council and its partners commit to.  A number of these commitments are specifically in 
relation to children (e.g. supporting breast feeding friendly policies).

3.5 Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources)
 
There are no identified impacts at this stage.

4. Consultees and their opinions

The Cabinet Member responsible for public health has been consulted with in the 
development of the HWD and supports the approach and has provided feedback that will be 
used to shape the further development and implementation of the approach.

Kirklees’s Director of Public Health supports the implementation of the HWD.

5. Next steps and timelines

Meeting Meeting date
Cabinet 14 January 2019
Council 16 January 2019
Health & Wellbeing Board 31 January 2019
HWD launch (with partners) event March 2019

Page 6



5

After strategic and partner buy-in at launch event in March, an action plan will be co-
produced with partners.  Agreed actions will have clear timescales.

6. Officer recommendations and reasons

It is recommended that:

• Cabinet support the development and implementation of the Healthy Weight 
Declaration, including the timeline set out in section 5 above and it be referred to the 
meeting of Council on 16 January 2019.

• Cabinet commits to championing the Healthy Weight Declaration.

• If agreed it is also recommended that the Director for Public health be delegated with 
authority to finalise the Declaration in consultation with the Cabinet portfolio holder 
taking into account feedback from consultees in time for the proposed launch of the 
Declaration in March 2019.

7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations

It’s important as a Council we do everything we can to support our residents to better health 
and to stay healthy for as long as possible. The declaration states a firm commitment to 
promote and support healthy weight across all our departments and with our partners and I 
support the recommendations.

8. Contact officer 

Carl Mackie/Alison Millbourn

9. Background Papers and History of Decisions

None

10. Service Director responsible  

Rachel Spencer-Henshall

Appendix: Draft Healthy Weight Declaration

Link to Food Active Blackpool example:
http://www.foodactive.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Food-Active-Blackpool-
Report.pdf 

Link to whole systems approach in Amsterdam:
https://www.ucl.ac.uk/obesity-policy-research-unit/sites/obesity-policy-research-
unit/files/what-learned-from-amsterdam-healthy-weight-programme-inform-policy-
response-obesity-england.pdf 

Page 7

http://www.foodactive.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Food-Active-Blackpool-Report.pdf
http://www.foodactive.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Food-Active-Blackpool-Report.pdf
https://www.ucl.ac.uk/obesity-policy-research-unit/sites/obesity-policy-research-unit/files/what-learned-from-amsterdam-healthy-weight-programme-inform-policy-response-obesity-england.pdf
https://www.ucl.ac.uk/obesity-policy-research-unit/sites/obesity-policy-research-unit/files/what-learned-from-amsterdam-healthy-weight-programme-inform-policy-response-obesity-england.pdf
https://www.ucl.ac.uk/obesity-policy-research-unit/sites/obesity-policy-research-unit/files/what-learned-from-amsterdam-healthy-weight-programme-inform-policy-response-obesity-england.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT  

DECLARATIO
N O

N  

HEALTHY W
EIG

HT 

	 THIS LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
DECLARATION ON HEALTHY WEIGHT 
IS A STATEMENT, INDIVIDUALLY OWNED 
BY KIRKLEES COUNCIL AUTHORITY AND 
ITS PARTNERS.

It encapsulates a vision to promote healthy 
weight and improve the health and 
well-being of the local population. We 
recognise that we need to exercise our 
responsibility in developing and implementing 
policies which promote healthy weight.

This Declaration was passed by: 	                                                 |  On: 	Date here

childrensfood.org.uk

Page 9



WE ACKNOWLEDGE 
THAT:

AS LOCAL LEADERS IN 
PUBLIC HEALTH WE 
WELCOME THE: 

>	� Unhealthy weight is a serious public health problem that 
increases disability, disease and death and has substantial 
long term economic, well-being and social costs. The 
proportion of the population affected by unhealthy weight 
continues to rise;

>	� Unhealthy weight is affected by health inequalities and is 
more common in lower socio-economic groups; 

>	� Poor diet during early life (the period between conception 
and weaning) can carry adverse health consequences in 
later life;

>	� Poor diet and an unhealthy weight are risk factors for 
cardiovascular disease, cancer and type 2 diabetes which 
contribute powerfully to poor health and premature death;

>	� Energy dense food and drinks high in fat and sugar and low 
in essential nutrients contribute to a significant amount of 
additional and unnecessary calories in the diet;

>	� There is greater availability and access to foods and drinks 
high in fat, sugar and salt which are increasingly eaten 
outside of the home, contributing to excess energy intake;

>	� Increased intake of foods high in fat and sugar and low in 
fruit and vegetables are strongly linked to those in manual 
occupations;

>	� People living in more socially deprived areas have less 
access to healthy foods;

>	� Advertising and marketing of foods and drinks high in fat, 
sugar and salt increases their consumption;

>	� Education, information and the increased availability of 
healthy alternatives help individuals to make healthy, 
informed food and drink choices;

>	� Modern physical activity environments contribute to 
sedentary lifestyles;

>	� Urban planning can have a significant impact on 
opportunities for physical activity, promoting safer 
environments for walking, cycling and recreation.

>	� Opportunity for local government to lead local action 
to prevent obesity, securing the health and well-being 
of our residents whilst considering available social, 
environmental and financial NHS and social care 
resources;

>	� Opportunity to protect some of the most vulnerable 
in society by giving children the best start in life 
and enabling all children, young people and adults 
to maximise their capabilities and make informed 
choices;

>	 National commitment to address childhood obesity;

>	� Support for the Local Authority Declaration on Healthy 
Weight from the following organisations: Association of 
Directors of Public Health North West, British Dental 
Association, Children’s Food Campaign and the UK 
Health Forum.

Page 10



>	� Engage with the local food and drink sector where 
appropriate to consider responsible retailing, offering 
and promoting healthier food and drink options, and 
reformulating and reducing the portion sizes of high fat, 
sugar and salt products;

>	� Consider how commercial partnerships with the 
food and drink industry may impact on the messages 
communicated around healthy weight to our local 
communities; 

>	� Review provision in all our public buildings, facilities and 
‘via’ providers to make healthy foods and drinks more 
available, convenient and affordable and limit access to 
high-calorie, low nutrient foods and drinks;

>	� Increase public access to free fresh drinking water 
on local authority controlled sites and within the 
commercial retail sector;

>	� Consider supplementary guidance for hot food 
takeaways, specifically in areas around schools, parks 
and where access to healthier alternatives are limited;

>	� Advocate plans with our partners including the NHS and 
all agencies represented on the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, Healthy Cities, academic institutions and local 
communities to address the causes and impacts of 
obesity;

>	� Protect our children from inappropriate marketing by 
the food and drink industry such as advertising and 
marketing in close proximity to schools; ‘giveaways’ 
and promotions within schools, and at events on local 
authority controlled sites;

>	� Support action at national level to help local authorities 
reduce obesity prevalence and health inequalities in our 
communities;

>	� Ensure food and drinks provided at public events include 
healthy provisions, supporting food retailers to deliver 
this offer;

>	� Support the health and well-being of local authority staff 
and increase knowledge and understanding of unhealthy 
weight to create a culture and ethos that normalises 
healthy weight;

>	� Invest in increasing knowledge and skills around healthy 
eating and physical activity for people living in Kirklees, 
to ensure they make informed healthier lifestyle choices.   

>	� Ensure clear and comprehensive healthy eating 
and physical activity messages are consistent with 
government guidelines;

>	� Consider how strategies, plans and infrastructures for 
regeneration and town planning positively impact on 
physical activity;

>	 Monitor the progress of our plan against our 		
	 commitments and publish the results.

WE COMMIT OUR COUNCIL AND OUR PARTNERS 
FROM THIS DATE
00.00.0000
The Kirklees Healthy Weight Declaration in underpinned by improving the 
quality of a place.  Through the following commitments we will maximise 
the potential of the physical and social environment and support sustainable 
health and wellbeing and a high quality of life:

Page 11



>	 Creating supportive environments in 			
	 communities for breastfeeding including 		
	 normalising and removing stigma by working 		
	 with businesses, community organisations and 	
	 stakeholders to ensure they are breast feeding 	
	 friendly places.

>	 Promoting the benefits of responding positively 	
	 to baby feeding cues from breast or bottle and 	
	 ensure adequate support/information is available 	
	 for introducing solid foods.

>	 Creating supportive environments in schools 		
	 and Early Years settings through physical activity 	
	 provision and healthy food policy.

>	 Increasing and promote physical activity 		
	 provision throughout Kirklees to ensure 		
	 sustainable opportunities are available and 		
	 accessible for all.

>	 Promoting walking and cycling across Kirklees to 	
	 increase physical activity, for social and 		
	 employment opportunities and minimise 
	 air pollution.

>	 Raising public awareness of leading a healthy 	
	 lifestyle and the importance of being a healthy 
	 weight across the life course.

>	 Supporting workplaces to promote and support 
	 the importance of staff being a healthy weight, 	
	 eating well and partaking in physical activity.

>	 Reducing food poverty and tackle malnutrition 	
	 in all settings through working with community 	
	 organisations and stakeholders. To improve the 	
	 approaches to identifying

IN ADDITION OUR LOCAL AUTHORITY AND OUR PARTNERS 
WILL WORK TOWARDS:………..

Signatories:

To be reviewed by...

The Local Authority Declaration on Healthy Weight has been 
designed and developed on behalf of Food Active, by the 
Health Equalities Group and is based on the the Local Authority 
Declaration on Tobacco Control.

For further information please contact: info@hegroup.org.ukPage 12



1 
 

 
 
Name of meeting: Cabinet 
Date: 14th January 2019  
Title of report: Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & Action Plan (2019)  
 
Purpose of report 

 
1. To present to Cabinet the Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & Action Plan 

(2019); and 
2. To ask that Cabinet approve the Strategy operating from the date of Cabinet approval 

to the end of the 2019 calendar year. 
 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

Yes 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  

Yes 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes 

Date signed off by Service Director & name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance IT and Transactional Services? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning 
Support? 

Saleem Tariq – 02/11/18 
 
Eamonn Croston – 02/11/18 
 
 
Julie Muscroft (Margaret Miller) – 29/11/18 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Viv Kendrick (Children) 

 
Electoral wards affected:  All  
 
Ward councillors consulted:  N/A 
 
Public or private:   Public 
  

Page 13

Agenda Item 8:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


2 
 

 
 
1. Summary  

As part of our Improvement Plan, we committed to producing a Sufficiency Strategy 
and Action Plan setting out how we will increase the availability of local placements to 
ensure that children and young people do not need to be placed at a distance from 
their communities. This Interim Strategy and Action Plan sets out our proposed 
approach until the end of calendar year 2019. Its key outcomes are children feeling 
confident our decisions more clearly reflect their needs and views, more children and 
young people able to stay at home and leave care early, and more placements of the 
right kind for children and young people in need (especially family-setting 
placements). 
 
By enabling families to stay together when safe, increasing local foster placements, 
and listening more to our looked after children, we believe we should see less of our 
children and young people placed outside of the District (when appropriate). In the 
course of this Strategy, we will also improve our understanding of children and young 
people’s needs, foster carers’ needs (to improve recruitment and retention of carers), 
and local sites that could be developed (including through adaptations) into more 
residential care. This includes sites for specialist accommodation for those with the 
most complex health, educational, and emotional and behavioural needs. We will also 
have a detailed understanding of the impact of keeping children in the District on local 
education placements and health care services and the investment and approach 
needed to manage this. This work will inform the next, longer-term Sufficiency 
Strategy (2020-25). The Strategy will therefore be reviewed and renewed in 2020. 

 
2. Background 

Following the September-October 2016 Ofsted inspection, Ofsted recommended 
Kirklees ‘increase the availability of local placements to ensure that children and 
young people do not need to be placed at a distance from their communities’ 
(recommendation 20 - link). This is a challenge for local authorities nationally. As of 31 
March 2017, 40% of looked after children in England were placed out of their home 
area (link). This continues to be a challenge as the number of children in care 
nationally continues to rise (link). In the Improvement Plan, we committed to deliver 
this outcome through a Sufficiency Strategy and Action Plan. The Strategy was 
submitted to Improvement Board on the 10th May, to inform them of progress. 
  
The Council has a statutory duty to take steps to provide sufficient accommodation 
within the District to meet the needs of our local children and young people, as far as 
reasonably practicable (Children Act 1989, Section 22G - link). This Strategy and 
Action Plan shows how the Council is meeting this statutory responsibility. It has been 
produced with the Government’s statutory guidance in mind, ‘Securing Sufficient 
Accommodation for Looked after Children’ (2010) (link). 
 
The Strategy and Action Plan have been produced in line with the Shared Outcomes 
set out in the Corporate Plan (link). The Strategy and Action Plan aim to help give 
children the best start in life by improving early support and intervention and support 
to leave care early, improving placement stability, and increasing small residential 
homes and foster placements. 
 
The core indicator of its success will be that a smaller proportion of looked after 
children and young people are placed more than 20 miles outside of the District. 
 

Page 14

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/kirklees/052_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664998/SFR50_2017_Additional_Tables_Text.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664995/SFR50_2017-Children_looked_after_in_England.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/22G
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/securing-sufficient-accommodation-for-looked-after-children
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/corporate-plan-201820.pdf


3 
 

The Strategy has had significant contributions from teams across the Council, 
including the Children’s Rights Team, Corporate Parenting Board, Commissioning, 
and the Corporate Strategy and Policy Team. 
 
Recognising the centrality of partnership work in our new ways of working (as set out 
in the 2018-20 Corporate Plan - link), we have also shared drafts with health and 
education stakeholders, including the Head of Joint Commissioning from the local 
CCGs and the Head of the Virtual School. True to our commitment to strengthening 
the voice of the child in our decisions, we have also discussed the approach with 
some of our children at the Children in Care Council and the Care Leavers Forum.  
 
Those we have engaged with have voiced support for the Strategy’s approach, whilst 
emphasising that specific placement targets require corresponding education and 
healthcare provision. We are looking into specific numbers and total financial 
implications through the Specialist Accommodation Board. Recognising the 
importance of political oversight and accountability in this issue, we took a draft of this 
strategy and action plan to Children’s Scrutiny Panel on the 11th July. Their feedback 
is summarised in Section 4. 

 
Progress on delivering the outcomes in this Strategy will be monitored six-monthly at 
Corporate Parenting Board. This will be against the indicators and performance 
measures and activities and standards in the finalised Action Plan. A key output is the 
next, 5-year Sufficiency Strategy, which will run from 2020-25. 

 
3. Implications for the Council 

 
3.1 Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP) 

Improved sufficiency will require improving our early intervention and 
prevention, including ongoing support for children and young people at risk of 
being taken into care. This will help children and young people safely stay at 
home rather than being taken into care, which can be better for the child and 
leave residential and family-setting placements (such as foster) for those that 
need them most (because they can’t safely stay at home). 

 
3.2 Economic Resilience (ER) 

We are looking at the possibility of more in-house residential provision for those 
who can’t safely stay at home. If found to be viable, this could protect the 
Council from price-rises when demand rises. 
 

3.3 Improving Outcomes for Children  
Getting used to a new placement takes time and energy and so changing 
placements can be disruptive. It can also mean losing vital friends and support 
networks. Ongoing placement instability makes it more likely that a child or 
young person will have to move out-of-area if that child or young person has 
specific educational, health, or emotional and behavioural needs. Placement 
stability is supported by involving children and young people in decisions about 
their placements and care. A key part of the Sufficiency Strategy and Action 
Plan is strengthening the voice of our children and young people. 
 
It is better for our children and young people to live locally where they can 
retain friends, support networks, and their educational setting and where we 
can provide higher quality support. With more children and young people 
supported to stay at home, there will be more local placements for those that 
need them most. 
 

Page 15

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/corporate-plan-201820.pdf


4 
 

Family-setting placements such as foster care tend to produce better outcomes 
for children and young people than residential care. They aim to replicate, as 
close as possible, a loving and attentive family life. The Strategy aims to have a 
higher proportion of children and young people in family-setting placements 
such as foster placements. This should be better for our children and young 
people, as well as keeping local residential placements allocated to those of 
our children and young people for whom foster placements are not appropriate 
or have not been producing good outcomes. 

 
3.4 Reducing demand on services 

Through its emphasis on better early support and improved consideration of 
educational, health, and emotional and behavioural needs in placement 
decisions, this strategy depends on early support services and demand might 
increase. It will also mean more demand for local school places, including for 
specialist placements for those of our children and young people with complex 
needs, and local health services. Children’s services will need to work closely 
with health and education partners to ensure any improvement in local 
sufficiency is sustainable. However: 
1. It will reduce financial demand on services through reduced expenditure on 

costly out-of-area residential placements; and 
2. Supporting children and young people placed out of Kirklees, especially 

those placed more than 20 miles out of the District, requires additional 
resources to supporting those within Kirklees, so reducing those placed 
more than 20 miles from the District will free up resource to increase the 
support available to all our children. 

 
3.5 Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  

See Section 2, paragraph 2 of this document for the key legal context and 
implications for this Strategy. 
 
This Strategy conforms with and helps deliver on our responsibilities as a local 
authority, including those on continuously improving our services (Local 
Government Act 1999), on meeting the needs of our looked after children via 
their placements, and the right to a family life that we may only interfere with in 
limited circumstances. 
 
Under Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999, the Council has a duty to 
make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which 
Council functions are exercised, and consider economy, efficiency, and 
effectiveness in doing so (link). In improving local placements, this Strategy 
contributes to our delivery on this duty. 
 
We have considered our duties under the Equality Act 2010 Section 149. An 
Equality Impact Assessment for this Strategy is included in the papers, and can 
be found on the Council’s Equality Impact Assessment Index: 
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/equality-impact-
assessments.aspx 

 
4. Consultees and their opinions 

There is no statutory or common law requirement to consult on delivering our 
sufficiency duty, and no formal consultation has taken place. However, we have 
contacted key internal and external stakeholders for comment. Feedback received on 
previous drafts is summarised below. 
 

Page 16

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1999/27/section/3
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/equality-impact-assessments.aspx
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/equality-impact-assessments.aspx


5 
 

This feedback has shaped the strategy and action plan. For example, we considered 
education, health, and specialist accommodation needs in developing the Strategy, as 
the Head of Joint Commissioning for the two Kirklees CCGs has suggested. Scrutiny’s 
comments have led to a reformatting of the Action Plan, an addition of a Voice of the 
Child Action Plan, and more detail on the feedback that the Children in Care Council 
and Care Leavers Forum gave us. The Virtual School Headteacher’s feedback has 
led to a clear statement of our statutory duties with regard to education placements 
being included in the Strategy, as set out in the new statutory guidance. Discussions 
with the Head of Service for Education Safeguarding and Inclusion have led to more 
emphasis being put on the importance of the High Needs Review. In response to the 
feedback from the Commissioning Manager, it was noted that smaller homes is one 
way to prevent institutionalisation, and our children and young people report feeling 
safer and more secure in smaller homes. 
 
Children’s Scrutiny Panel: Panel members voiced approval for the broad principals of 
the Strategy and that it was taken to them in draft form so they had chance to provide 
input. Panel members noted the need to prioritise the baselines and targets in the 
Action Plan and questioned some of the targets in the previous draft they saw. They 
asked for clearer presentation of key figures to make it easier to hold delivery of its 
ambitions to account. They asked for clearer evidence that our engagement with the 
Voice of the Child has informed the Strategy. They also recommended sharing the 
Strategy with third-sector support services for comment and feedback. 
 
Children in Care Council: Children told us they find smaller placements better and that 
they would like to be more involved in training foster carers and choosing placements. 
They emphasised the importance of treating every child on their own terms. 
 
Care Leavers Forum: Young people told us the location of their placement is key to 
their success. They also said it would be good to be involved in foster carer training. 

 
Head of Joint Commissioning – Children, NHS Greater Huddersfield and NHS North 
Kirklees CCGs: Supports the outcomes and principles of the Strategy. The detailed 
commissioning plans that will sit under these must approach sufficiency in terms of 
education, health, and specialist accommodation needs. A number of Kirklees’ 
children need highly specialist placements and education settings. They are currently 
only found out of area and cost a lot relative to the quality of the placement received 
and are harder to monitor. Local specialist provision would keep these children in 
Kirklees, improve the quality of their care, and keep the costs lower. 
 
Virtual School Headteacher: The draft Strategy the VS Headteacher saw needed 
more links to the High Needs Review and a clearer statement of our legal 
responsibilities around educational placements for looked after children, as stated in 
the new statutory guidance. 

 
Head of Service, Education Safeguarding and Inclusion: Agreed with the feedback 
from the Virtual School Headteacher and suggests work through the High Needs 
Review and this Strategy should be aligned. 
 
Independent Chair, Safeguarding Board: Approved of the Strategy, but would 
recommend further emphasis on community resources and the new local provider 
network (which will improve quality, skill exchange, and local relationships). 
 
Commissioning Manager: Fully agrees that we need to develop local provision but we 
need to look at all options for local provision on a case-by-case basis (not focus 
exclusively on in-house provision), with clear costings. Reducing the number of beds 

Page 17



6 
 

in residences might not be effective, according to the 2016 Narey report, and avoiding 
institutionalisation is more important. Training and staff culture in residential homes 
should be addressed. 

 
5. Next steps 

1. If the Strategy is signed off, work to the Strategy and help to embed awareness, 
including: 

- Identify opportunities to run engagement workshops with staff from across 
Children’s Services, to find the best ways to deliver the Strategy’s ambitions; 

- Identify opportunities to integrate sufficiency-related actions into the action 
plans of teams across Council services. 

- In collaboration with the Specialist Accommodation Board and education and 
health colleagues, develop a more detailed understanding of the numbers that 
could stay in or return to Kirklees and the specialist accommodation, education 
placements, and health service requirements for this;  

- Identify opportunities to improve links with partners, including KNH; and 
- Present financial implications to Executive Team. 

 
6. Officer recommendations and reasons 

1. That Cabinet note the content of the Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & 
Action Plan (2019); and 
2. That Cabinet approve the Strategy operating from the date of Cabinet approval to 
the end of the 2019 calendar year. 
 

7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 
At Children’s Portfolio Holder’s Briefing (15/10/18), the Portfolio Holder recommended 
that the Strategy continue to Leadership Management Team and Cabinet for sign-off. 
 

8. Contact officers 
 Steve Comb (Head of Corporate Parenting) 
 steve.comb@kirklees.gov.uk 
 01484 221000 
 

Stephen Bonnell (Policy & Partnerships Officer) 
 stephen.bonnell@kirklees.gov.uk 
 01484 221000 

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 22nd October 2018: Leadership Management Team sign-off 
 15th October 2018: Portfolio Holder sign-off 

 
10. Service Director responsible   

Elaine McShane (Family Support and Child Protection) 

Page 18

mailto:steve.comb@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.bonnell@kirklees.gov.uk


 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Children and Young People’s 

Interim Sufficiency 

Strategy 2019 

Keeping families together, 

improving local placements 

 

 
 

Page 19



1 
 

THE STRATEGY IN CONTEXT 

The Challenge ................................................................................................................. 2 

Our Strategy .................................................................................................................... 3 

Our Shared Outcomes .................................................................................................... 4 

Ofsted’s recommendations and the Improvement Plan ................................................ 4 

Further strategic context ............................................................................................... 5 

The statutory duty to secure sufficient placements and supporting services .............. 6 
 

KEY ISSUES IN IMPROVING SUFFICIENCY 
Enabling families to stay together and our children and young people to live 
independently ................................................................................................................. 7 

Supporting care leavers ............................................................................................. 7 

Accommodating young people leaving custody ......................................................... 8 

 
More local placements of the right kind ........................................................................ 9 

More foster placements ............................................................................................. 9 

More small residential homes ................................................................................. 10 

Specialist residential homes .................................................................................... 11 

Commissioning practices review ............................................................................. 11 

 
More stable placements ............................................................................................... 13 

Speaking to our children and young people ............................................................. 13 

Listening to children returning from being missing ................................................ 14 

High quality contact for children placed out of area ................................................ 15 

Education needs will be central in every placement decision ................................. 15 

 
Data development agenda ............................................................................................ 17 

Next steps ..................................................................................................................... 17 

 

ACTION PLANS 
APPENDIX 1: ‘Voice of the Child’ Sufficiency Action Plan ........................................... 18 

APPENDIX 2: Working Service Action Plan .................................................................. 23 

  

Page 20



2 
 

The Challenge 

All children in Kirklees should have the best start in life possible, which includes 
safe and secure relationships in a good home, a good education that helps them 
achieve their potential, and the right health support when they need it. 

This document describes the Council’s approach and outlines what the Council is 
doing to improve the availability of local placements and supporting services (such 
as education settings and health services) in Kirklees. The long-term aim is that we 
have enough (‘sufficient’) placements and supporting services to meet local demand. 

At the moment, a large and relatively quick rise in demand has meant that local 
authorities across England don’t have enough local placements and/or supporting 
services. The number of children and young people in care is continuing to rise in 
England (link), and as of 31 March 2017, 40% of looked after children in England 
were placed outside their home area (link). 

In Kirklees, the number of looked after children and young people has increased 
from 312 in 2005 to 646 in July 2018. Like other local authorities, we have therefore 
had to find more placements outside the District. It is important to emphasise that 
we only do this when it is, on balance, best for the child or young person because 
their often complex needs cannot be met locally. 

Why is this important? Moving into care is often difficult for any child or young 
person. They will have to get used to a new place and find new people they can trust. 
It might become harder for them to keep in touch with old friends and support 
networks, leading to a significant sense of loss. If they are fortunate enough to keep 
their education setting, they might have to travel further to get there. Being placed 
out of area exacerbates these challenges. 

The key challenges in Kirklees are the large number of foster caters due to retire, 
relatively low foster care recruitment levels, and the relatively large number of 
children in residential placements, compared to other comparable authorities. More 
details about these challenges is set out later in the relevant section of this 
document.  

Page 21

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664995/SFR50_2017-Children_looked_after_in_England.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664998/SFR50_2017_Additional_Tables_Text.pdf


3 
 

Our Strategy 
We will improve early intervention to help children and young people stay with their 
families when safe and we will support our children and young people leaving care to 
maximise their independence. This will mean the local placements and support 
services we have are available to those that need them most. 

For our currently looked after children and young people, we will increase the 
number of local family-setting (especially foster) placements. Family-setting 
placements emulate a healthy home life, providing secure relationships that make it 
easier for our children and young people to achieve their potential and live happy 
lives. More local foster placements will also mean our residential care is reserved 
for those in need of more specialised support. We know that word of mouth is the 
best advert for foster care. 

For those who do need residential care, we will increase the number of in-house 
residential placements with four or less beds, either by reducing the beds in existing 
children’s homes or purchasing properties and converting them into small 
residential homes. Our children and young people have complex needs and placing 
large numbers of them together can create complications that are difficult for our 
staff and for our children and young people to manage. This was one of the 
suggestions from our Children in Care Council and Care Leavers Forum. 

For all those we already look after, we will improve placement stability. Moving 
placements brings with it similar disruptions to moving into care in the first place. 
Children and young people only move placements when their needs have changed or 
the placement was not the right match in the first place. We will strengthen the 
involvement of supporting services, especially our education and health partners, in 
placement decisions. None of our children and young people should have to change 
their placement because they don’t have the right education or health support. 

With every child or young person we work with, whether in early support or as one of 
our looked after children or young people, their voice will be central. Listening to 
children and young people and developing a trusting relationship with each child and 
young person, is the key to understanding problems at home or care setting. Our 
Voice Improvement Plan (under development) will set out in more detail how we will 
not just include the voice of the child in our decisions, but set it at the heart of those 
decisions. In line with that commitment, an early draft of this Strategy was discussed 
at our Children in Care Council and Care Leavers Forum, who provided the clear 
asks in the ‘Voice of the Child’ Sufficiency Action Plan appended to this document. 

In the course of this strategy, we will be using the findings of the High Needs Review 
to help meet demand for local specialist accommodation, education settings, and 
health services, which will lead to more informed joint commissioning decisions. 

Page 22



4 
 

Our Shared Outcomes

 
Our Corporate Plan sets the context for everything we do. In our new Plan (2018-20), 
we have committed to focussing on people, partners, and places: doing better at 
enabling people and communities to address problems independently, sharing more 
knowledge, information, and resources with local partners, and adapting our work to 
the unique strengths of each of the communities and places we work in. 

Ofsted’s recommendations and the Improvement Plan 

In June 2017, Kirklees entered into an Improvement Partnership with Leeds City 
Council. This Strategy forms part of Kirklees Council’s efforts to deliver the 
outcomes stated in the Improvement Plan, which are, in turn, our response to 
Ofsted’s recommendations following their September-October 2016 inspection (link). 

Following the inspection, Ofsted recommended that Kirklees ‘increase the 
availability of local placements to ensure that children and young people do not need 
to be placed at a distance from their communities’ (recommendation 20) (link). In the 
Improvement Plan, we committed to help deliver this outcome through a Sufficiency 
Strategy and accompanying Action Plan.  

Page 23

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/corporate-Plan-201820.pdf
https://files.api.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50004350
https://files.api.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50004350


5 
 

Further strategic context 
This strategy was consulted on with key local education and health partners, and it 
sets out a shared understanding of the challenges for sufficiency in the District.  

This strategy’s scope is limited to managing and meeting accommodation need 
for our looked after children in a way that is sensitive to local education and health 
support provision. It is part of a wider strategic framework, aiming to improve the 
lives of all children and young people and their families living in Kirklees: 

 Our Corporate Plan sets the context for everything we do. In our new Plan 
(2018-20), we have committed to focussing on people, partners, and places: 
doing better at enabling people and communities to address problems 
independently, sharing more knowledge, information, and resources with 
local partners, and adapting our work to the different communities and places 
we work in, starting from their unique, different strengths. 

 This Sufficiency Strategy sets out ways of improving children’s wellbeing. With 
partners from across the health sector, we are aiming to deliver the health 
and wellbeing outcomes agreed in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(2014-2020) (link). The new Economic Strategy (due for completion in early 
2019) will set out priorities complimentary to those in the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, recognising the role of inequality in the health and 
wellbeing of all Kirklees’ residents, and its implementation will support this 
strategy. 

 We are developing a new Corporate Parenting Strategy, which sets out how 
we are delivering and will deliver on our responsibilities as corporate parents. 

 The Kirklees Partners Early Support strategy sets out the strategic context for 
how district partners are helping to strengthen families so more children and 
young people can stay at home, when safe. It sets the context for how district 
partners, including the Council, can improve local early support. 

 Future in Mind: Transformation Plan 2015-2020 (link) sets out how Kirklees is 
working together with the NHS to provide better outcomes for children and 
young people’s mental health. This strategy’s emphasis on early intervention 
is consistent with the Plan’s commitment to help protect those at risk of 
serious mental health problems. 

 Ensuring we have the right placement, education, health, and other support 
services is particularly important for children and young people living with 
special educational needs or disabilities. This Strategy compliments the 
outcomes stated in the Joint Strategy for Children and Young People with 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (link).  

Page 24

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/corporate-Plan-201820.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/health-strategy.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/working-with-children/pdf/future-in-mind/Kirklees-Future-In-Mind-Transformation-Plan-Refresh.pdf
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/pdf/send-strategy.pdf


6 
 

The statutory duty to secure sufficient placements and 

supporting services 

The Strategy sets out our approach for 2019 on meeting the requirements of section 
22G of the Children Act 1989 in line with the statutory guidance ‘Securing Sufficient 
Accommodation for Looked after Children’ (2010).  
 
Section 22G (link) applies to all children looked after under the Children Act. It 
requires local authorities to secure, as far as practicable, enough accommodation to 
meet the needs of any children whose circumstances are such that living within the 
local authority’s area would be consistent with their welfare.  
 
The UK Government guidance ‘Securing Sufficient Accommodation for Looked after 
Children’ sets out a check-list for what counts as meeting the sufficiency duty: 
 

1. The right placement is available at the right time. 
2. There is a range of local placements and supporting services that are 

sufficient to meet the needs of all Looked after Children or a plan to move 
towards that position. 

3. There is consideration of the service requirements of children that are looked 
after, on the edge of care, at risk of custody, and/or leaving care.  

4. Working with local partner agencies and neighbouring authorities to ensure 
this need will be met and that young people with this need receive the support 
they need. 1 

The guidance also sets out the building blocks of effective commissioning for 
children and young people in care: high quality assessments, care planning, and 
placement decisions. 
 
This Strategy’s approach has been developed in line with that guidance. Given that 
we do not have enough local placements for our looked after children and young 
people, this is the plan to move towards that position as referenced under (2) of the 
check-list. 
 
The Corporate Parenting Board will review our progress against the Service Action 
Plan appended to the Strategy. Progress against our key indicators will be presented 
to Corporate Parenting Board every six months.  

                                                      
1 Partners have obligations under the Children Act 2004 section 10 in relation to improving the outcomes for 
children in the local area. 

Page 25

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/22G


7 
 

Enabling families to stay together and our children and young 
people to live independently 
We want to enable families to stay together and children and young people to be 
independent and leave care early. A key part of this is early support, which delivers 
better outcomes for children and families and is less expensive than late 
intervention. The Kirklees Partners Early Support strategy sets out the strategic 
context for this, and so how district partners, including the Council, can improving 
local early support. 
 
Problems at home become entrenched when left too long, which makes them more 
disruptive for the children and family and harder and more expensive to solve. It also 
raises the risk of a child being taken into care, which is disruptive for the child and 
expensive for the Council. 
 
Early support means managing challenges when they are easier to solve, to prevent 
their problems becoming entrenched. It also means targeted and evidence-based 
responses to entrenched problems to support a child or young person to stay at 
home when safe. This is an urgent issue, as the number of looked after children will 
rise, if current trends continue. Problems become entrenched when not handled 
early, and are thereby harder to handle. This increases pressure on staff in social 
services. Early support helps manage that pressure by preventing, reducing, and 
delaying the need for intense support, which in turn helps social workers make high-
quality, cost-effective decisions. 
 
We want a full range of care and support packages to support children and young 
people living with disabilities or health (including mental health) problems. 
Disabilities and health problems create challenges at home that make it more likely 
that a child or young person will be looked after, but the right support can help them 
and their families manage. It is more difficult and costly to complete health 
assessments on our children and young people once they are placed outside the 
District, making it harder to ensure we’re meeting all the needs of those with 
complex health problems, including mental health problems. 
 

We will support our children and young people exiting care 

When safe, young people will be enabled to return home or exit care early. To this 
end, we will try to support more children and young people into adoption and other 
permanence arrangements. We will work more closely with One Adoption West 
Yorkshire, who provide our adoption services. We will also support children and 
young people to exit care earlier through more Special Guardianship Order and Child 
Arrangement Order placements. 

Page 26



8 
 

 
We will build our relationships with private sector providers of both fostering and 
residential services. We will meet regularly with private sector fostering and 
residential services to understand their capacity and challenges and to share 
relevant policies and procedures. 
 
We will have effective support for young people entering adulthood, including a 
range of appropriate semi-independent accommodation placements and high quality 
personal advisor support. 
 

Accommodating young people leaving custody 

If a child or young person leaves custody following a criminal offence and they do not 
have a parent or guardian, cannot return home, or were previously in care, the local 
authority will be responsible for providing accommodation. Some of these children 
and young people have very complex needs, which require highly specialist support. 
We have to plan our specialist placement provision in line with what we know about 
children and young people due to leave custody. We need the right kind of local 
placements and supporting services for these young people. Without the right 
specialist provision, we will have to place them out-of-area. The ongoing partnership 
work in delivering the actions from the High Needs Review will support this. 
 
We will continue the good work of the dedicated Looked-After Children team within 
the Young Offenders Team: since 2010/2011 we have seen a reduction in the 
percentage offending of LAC young people, from 12.8% (10/11) to 7.26% (17/18).  

  

Page 27



9 
 

More local placements of the right kind 

More foster placements 

Wherever it is in their best interests, children and young people will be placed in 
family settings with friends and family (Connected Persons) or foster placements 
rather than residential settings. Increasing local fostering and other family setting 
placements is a priority for guaranteeing the sustainability of local placement and 
support provision. 
 
The local children’s residential market is not currently meeting local need because 
of its availability, quality, and/or affordability. Historically, we have had above 
average numbers of children in residential care. In November 2017, 11.2% of 
Kirklees’ looked-after-children were in residential care, whilst comparable local 
authorities have around 8.2%. Residential care placements are expensive and this 
high proportion in residential care affects the sustainability of local placement 
availability. 
 
Historically, we have had proportionately few foster placements in our care: 68% of 
our looked after children are in foster care compared to 73% in other local 
authorities’ care. The use of the Council’s own in-house foster carers for placements 
is also low at 34% of placements against 44% for our comparators. As of publication, 
this is the last available data for comparing to comparable authorities. These 
metrics have since started to improve in Kirklees: we now have more children in 
fostering placements and fewer in residential settings. 
 
With this in mind, we will try to lower the proportion of children placed in residential 
care by increasing the number placed in family settings such as foster care. Children 
in residential care aged 12 or below might especially benefit from being in foster 
care. These decisions will always be made with the best interest of the child in mind 
and in light of their views. 

Foster carer retention 

The Council’s recent foster carer recruitment campaigns have not been as 
successful as anticipated and recruitment has not kept pace with carers 
deregistering or retiring. This situation will continue to be a challenge as foster 
carers retire or become involved in Staying Put arrangements. 
 
65 of the 192 approved foster carers (or 34%) are aged 56 or above (July 2018) and so 
are currently or will soon be eligible to retire. Staying Put arrangements mean the 
number of foster placements can reduce as children and young people are allowed 
to live with their carer after 18, if both parties agree. We welcome Staying Put 

Page 28



10 
 

arrangements for bringing stability and associated benefits to looked-after 
children’s lives. We will continue to actively encourage foster carers to be involved in 
Staying Put arrangements. However, we need to match this with strong recruitment 
to increase the number of local foster placements. 
 
Recruiting new foster carers is one side of our approach. We know that word of 
mouth and seeing friends, neighbours, and family enjoying being foster carers is the 
strongest way to attract interest. We need to ensure we continue to improve every 
aspect of the foster carer’s experience through, for example, our unique foster carer 
support team. We will continue to listen to the concerns raised to us by the Kirklees 
Fostering Network at our business meetings and at foster carer reviews. We will use 
these concerns to identify improvement priorities. 
 
We need to focus more on retention of foster carers and listening to foster carers 
and acting on their concerns in this way will help with that. We are also keen to be 
innovative in our approach to foster carer retention and the Head of Corporate 
Parenting is looking to meet with researchers from the University of Huddersfield to 
discuss options for collaborative research on local foster care retention. 
 
It is vital that we recruit the right people into foster care, people who want to be 
foster carers for the right reasons and who have the skills and passions that help 
deliver our looked after children the best outcomes possible. Recruitment will 
always be limited by these factors, but we believe there are plenty of people in 
Kirklees who would be excellent foster carers. To attract them, we need to peak 
their interest by constantly improving the quality of our support and the 
attractiveness of foster caring. 
 
In developing our approach to increasing local foster placements through 
recruitment and retention, we will take time to properly assess both: 

- the recommendations from Sir Martin Narey and Mark Owers’s independent 
review into foster care in England, including its 36 recommendations 
(February 2018, link); and 

- the UK Government’s response, including their own analysis and 
recommendations (July 2018, link). 

Both documents provide an important opportunity for us to learn from a national 
perspective, and improve local provision in an intelligence-led manner. 

More small residential homes 

Our children and young people in residential care have told us they feel safer and 
enjoy home more when they are in smaller residential homes. They highlighted how 
larger homes have more children and young people with more complex needs 
together and that this heightens the risk of conflict and disorder in the home.  

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/foster-care-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fostering-better-outcomes


11 
 

 
We have already reduced the number of beds in some homes. Our three mainstream 
homes are now registered as four beds. We are looking to acquire further property 
to develop additional small children’s homes within the District and are already 
exploring opportunities to work together with partners on this.  
 
The Specialist Accommodation project board will assess ways for the Council itself 
to provide more small children’s homes, semi-independent accommodation, and 
more care leavers’ accommodation, so we have a sustainable local placement offer, 
that meets the needs of our looked after children and care leavers. 
 

Specialist residential homes 

A small number of our children and young people, often with autism, learning 
difficulties, and/or emotional and behavioural issues, need highly specialist 
placements and educational settings. Our residential, health, education, and other 
support services for these children requires improvement so that more of these 
children are placed locally. This should reduce costs and help ensure the 
placements are of the highest quality possible. To ensure we have the right services 
for those of our children with such complex needs, we need to fully understand their 
needs. The findings of the High Needs Review and the ongoing work responding to 
those findings will inform our priorities in developing our services in future 
commissioning. Some of our young people with the most complex needs will transfer 
to Adult’s Services on or close to their 18th birthday. We will support them in this 
transition. 
 
We know the majority of badged ‘therapeutic or specialist’ residential placements do 
not currently deliver the outcomes we expect or value for money. We will explore 
other options to meet needs. 

We will review our commissioning practices 

A key means to achieving this outcome of this strategy is securing the placements 
and services needed to meet need when a child or young person’s wellbeing is better 
served in care. We need to ensure our placement services are sustainable, so we will 
review and improve our arrangements for purchasing placements. These might 
include framework contracts and block and/or spot purchasing. 
 
In line with the commitment in our Corporate Plan to work more inclusively with 
partners, partnering with other organisations, including other councils, public sector 
organisations, businesses, and/or charities will be key to effectively increasing 
capacity. We are already looking at new partnership arrangements to help with this. 

Page 30



12 
 

 
We will review our current placements service, examining the efficiency and 
effectiveness of current arrangements. The service will manage all placement 
referrals and use a robust quality assurance and contract management model to 
ensure good quality matches and sustainable investments. 
 
Quality assurance is a priority. There will be robust quality assurance and oversight. 
For children’s homes, there are monthly monitoring visits of an independent person 
to a children’s home with a report sent to Ofsted following the visit (‘Regulation 44 
visits’). There are also regular manager reports. We are developing regular foster 
care business meetings, which will take place every 6 weeks. We are also creating 
new practice standards for our fostering service and a quality assurance officer role 
within the Placements Team to drive up standards in private sector residential and 
fostering provision. 
  

Page 31



13 
 

More stable placements 
Children and young people have the best start in life when they develop secure 
attachments with their carers. Evidence shows that moving care placements 
reduces children’s opportunities to develop these attachments. It may also worsen 
any behavioural and/or emotional difficulties. Moving placements only happens when 
absolutely necessary, so moving placements means that the child or young person 
and the placement either no longer match or did not match in the first place. 
 
The main ways to ensure placement stability are: proactively asking our children and 
young people whether they are happy in their placements, effectively responding 
when they’re not and as early as possible, and ensuring they have the right health 
support and education placement alongside their accommodation. 
 
We and our partner agencies 
will always look to improve the 
quality of our wrap around care 
and improve support  
to carers. Our new Quality  
Assurance Officer role in  
the Placements Team will  
help make this happen. 

Speaking to our children 
and young people 

Research and reviews from 
Laming to Munro emphasise 
the importance of the voice of 
the child in ensuring children 
are effectively supported and 
protected. Children’s services 
need to build the right 
relationships and trust with our 
children and young people to 
enable them to voice their 
concerns, share their views and 
be involved in agreeing the 
support and plans that are right 
for their needs. Kirklees will 
have more efficient and 
effective services and our 
children will have a better start in life if their voices are at the heart of everything we 

 

“Make sure you listen to children and 

young people to get their views on their 

placements” 
 

“Care Leavers should be in a comfortable 

placement so they can feel at home”  
 

“Make sure that people in care feel 

important” 
 

“Not enough attention given to Care Plans 

and Pathway Plans” 
 

“Kids in care and care leavers don’t know 

what social workers expect of them” 

March 2017 
 

Page 32



14 
 

do. In line with the Improvement Plan, this is becoming a value shared across local 
partners and is central to all our work. 
 
In April and May 2018, a draft version of this strategy was discussed with the 
Children in Care Council and the Care Leavers Forum. The ‘Voice of the Child’ 
Sufficiency Action Plan (Appendix 1) shows what the Children in Care Council and 
Care Leavers Forum told us and our response. This is to demonstrate how the voice 
of the child is shaping the design of our services and our Kirklees Commitment to 
Care Leavers, which is under development. 
 
In May 2018, the Children in Care Council produced a ‘great-placement check-list’: 

 

Listening to children returning from being missing 

A crucial time to listen to the voice of children in young people is when they return to 
their placement after being missing. When a child or young person goes missing, it 
can indicate that something is wrong and they are struggling to cope. Being missing 
from their placement also makes them more likely to be a victim of crime, including 
child sexual exploitation, as they can come into unsupervised contact with others. As 
the statutory guidance sets out (link), in-depth return home interviews provided by 
someone the child or young person trusts are an effective way for us to: 
 

 
A list produced by our Children in Care Council (May 2018): 

o The child or young person is given skills for living independently 

o A non-judgmental carer that respects the child or young person  

o The family positively including the child or young person in activities with the 
extended family or young people they live with, to create good memories 

o A variety of placements are available, so the placement chosen suits the 
person’s needs  

o The carer and support workers listen to the voice of the child or young 
person  

o The carer helps with and promotes education and extra-curricular activities 

o The child or young person lives with the right number of people 

o The child or young person lives in a safe and accessible area  

o The carer understands the child’s family dynamics and culture  

o The carer allows the child or young person personal space 

 

Page 33

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/307867/Statutory_Guidance_-_Missing_from_care__3_.pdf


15 
 

 understand the child’s situation; 
 help to solve or handle the problems that led them to run away; 
 identify anything that happened whilst they were away; and 
 equip the child or young person with the resources and knowledge of how to 

stay safe if they run away again. 
 
We will ensure we provide return home interviews within 72 hours of one of our 
children or young people returning to their placement and ensure this is given by 
someone the child or young person trusts, which might not be someone involved in 
caring for the child or young person, as set out in the statutory guidance (link). 

High quality contact for children placed out of area 

We know that any placement move, whether in or out of area, can frighten a child or 
young person and they can feel anxious as they get to know a new place, new people, 
and sometimes a new school, whilst leaving some others behind. A 2016 survey of 
our children and young people placed out of area found a consistent challenge to be 
wanting to see more of their family and friends.  
 
Ongoing contact with old friends and family can help a child or young person cope 
with the emotional challenges of a placement move. The Council has a duty to 
ensure good quality, regular contact happens (unless restrictions apply) and will 
continue to support our children and young people to have this contact when 
appropriate. We have to continue to listen to each of our children and young people 
placed out of area, to ensure high quality contact 

Education needs will be central in every placement decision 

Alongside health and a good home life, education is one of the most important 
considerations in delivering good placements for our children and young people. A 
good placement is stable and provides opportunities to move on to live a successful, 
independent life and achieve ambitions after leaving care. 
 
Whenever a child or young person is taken into care or needs to move placements 
for whatever reason, we will always try to maintain their current educational 
provision, which may be the only stability left for them at an otherwise difficult and 
disruptive time in their lives. We understand there are exceptional circumstances 
where this is not possible, and in these cases finding the right educational needs will 
be central to any placement searches and decisions. 
 
When we don’t have the right education placement locally for one of our children or 
young people, they may have to move out-of-area to ensure they get an appropriate 
education placement. In these cases, the focus will still be on ensuring as stable and 

Page 34

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/307867/Statutory_Guidance_-_Missing_from_care__3_.pdf


16 
 

long-term a placement as possible. Placement stability is key to good outcomes for 
our children and young people, but stability is only possible with the right 
educational decision. The Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Assessment 
and Commissioning Team (SENDACT) will be closely involved throughout the 
placement decision-making process and help ensure any new placement meets all 
the educational needs of our child or young person, so they don’t need to move 
because of those needs. 
 
Finding a school place can be complicated for the small number of children and 
young people requiring specialist placements with on-site education, such as some 
of those living with complex disabilities, or those with complex emotional, 
behavioural, and social needs. When education is an afterthought or education needs 
are not thoroughly assessed, it can lead to a child or young person having a place to 
live without the right high quality school placement to match their sometimes 
complex needs. This leads to education placement breakdown. This is disruptive in 
itself, but it can also then result in a child or young person having to move home in 
order to stay in education, if there is no alternative nearby. 
 
The Kirklees Virtual School monitors the education of and offers support to all 
children and young in our care. It will liaise with SENDACT to ensure children with 
special education needs are identified on the Placement Referral Form prior to 
commencing the placement search. SENDACT will be involved at all stages and 
always before any education package is chosen. We will strengthen our relationships 
with mainstream and specialist education providers and find ways to provide more 
bespoke education provision locally to meet our children and young people’s 
educational needs. 
 
Alongside attendance and attainment monitoring for our looked after children and 
young people, the Kirklees Virtual School flags difficulties they may have in their 
education placements. This can indicate support is needed to help keep them in their 
education placement and the Kirklees Virtual School, Social Worker, and school will 
work together to try to stabilise the situation through early intervention and 
prevention with regular meetings and targeted support through Pupil Premium Plus 
funding. 
 
This Strategy conforms to the latest statutory guidance on promoting the education 
of looked after children (February 2018, link). Amongst other things, the guidance 
means: 

 When we make a care plan for one of our children or young people, we have to 
set up a Personal Education Plan (PEP) as part of that and at the same time. 

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children


17 
 

 Social workers, the Kirklees Virtual School Headteacher, Independent 
Reviewing Officers, pupil admissions officers, and Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities Assessment and Commissioning Teams in Kirklees should 
work together to ensure appropriate education provision is arranged at the 
same time as the care placement, except in an emergency (p.6). In emergency 
placements, Kirklees has to find a suitable education placement for the child 
within 20 days (p. 11). 

Data development agenda 

Effective commissioning requires that we collect the right data and draw the right 
conclusions about what it says. Alongside drawing on the findings of the High Needs 
Review to understand the most complex needs in the District, teams in the Council 
are developing baseline figures for more effectively monitoring things like our early 
support and intervention and prevention efforts. This will support an intelligence-led 
response to the challenge of early intervention and prevention that is thereby more 
likely to deliver the outcomes our children and young people need. This will help to 
ensure sufficient local placements and support services to meet those needs. 

Next steps  

In early 2019, we will have a better understanding of current and expected support 
needs and potential sites that can be converted into residential care. These will help 
us produce commissioning options that will inform the next 5-Year Strategy. Note, 
that any longer-term strategy will be subject to review, to ensure we remain flexible 
in responding to sudden shifts in demand (e.g. from high-profile cases). 
 
We will also produce a Market Position Statement, so that private providers know 
what the needs of our local children and young people are and the volume of 
demand.

Page 36



APPENDIX 1: ‘Voice of the Child’ Sufficiency Action Plan 
 

 

 
When someone is a carer, they should: 

 Understand the needs of children and what 
motivates them 

 Teach life skills that young people will need in the 
future, including independent living skills 

 Be supportive 

 Be non-judgemental 

 Be flexible 

 Be understanding 

 
Develop and implement a Corporate Parenting 
training package for elected members, social care 
and other Council staff, and partner agencies. 

Develop and deliver the Kirklees Commitment to 
Care Leavers that goes beyond statutory 
requirements. 

Improve training to foster carers and residential 
staff.  

Implement better quality assurance in relation to 
purchased placements. 

When someone becomes a foster carer, their extended 
family should receive training on how to behave 
appropriately with the child or young person. 

There is currently some training available to 
extended family members. We will look to extend 
this to more family members with regular contact 
with those of our children and young people in 
foster care, developing a skilled, informed team 
around the child. 

P
age 37



19 
 

When residential homes (in-house and private) recruit, 
they should include children and young people on the 
recruitment panels 

 

This will be made a requirement for recruitment 
processes in residential care. 
 

When the Council recruits a foster carer, children and 
young people should be involved 

We will start to involve young people in foster carer 
recruitment events, when appropriate. There is a 
regulatory process for the recruitment of foster 
carers that includes analysis of their history and 
appearance before a panel. We will find ways of 
involving our children and young people as much as 
possible, including in the developing recruitment 
material. 

When children are in care, there should be no more than 4 
children or young people in total in their placement 

As set out in the Sufficiency Strategy, we are 
seeking to develop smaller children’s homes, with 
occupancy four and below. Current mainstream 
homes are now operating at a maximum of four 
residents. 

When a child or young person is in care, their carer should 
start planning them leaving care and thinking about the 
skills they need earlier 

Skills training for carers will incorporate the 
Kirklees Commitment to Care Leavers, which is 
under development. It will set out a natural, 
incremental approach to preparing our children in 
care for the transition adulthood. 

P
age 38



20 
 

Police come to care homes too frequently Residential staff and foster carers will continue to 
receive training in restorative ways of working to 
improve conflict resolution. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

When a young person is leaving care and moving into 
independent living, they need: 

1. An introduction to independent living; 
2. in-depth skills in money management (including 

budgeting, debt management, bills, and the cost 
of living), shopping, cooking, cleaning, and other 
skills; 

3. support with home decoration, repairs, and 
maintenance; 

4. more resources for emotional resilience; 
5. mental health support; 
6. more housing options; 
7. housing with Wi-Fi; 
8. housing in a good location; and 
9. housing options in their Pathway Plan. 

 

Consider these options in developing our Kirklees 
Commitment to Care Leavers, which will exceed the 
requirements in existing legislation and guidance. 

P
age 39



21 
 

 

 
When a young person lives in foster care, they should 
be able to ask to stay in the home until they’re 21 

 
Continue to actively encourage foster carers to become 
involved in Staying Put arrangements. Foster carers are 
volunteers and it is their choice if they wish to care for an 
adult post-18. 

 

 

When a care leaver finishes University, they should 
have housing available. 
 

 

Review this as part of the development of the Kirklees 
Commitment to Care Leavers. 

 

When a care leaver lives in semi-independent 
accommodation, they should receive more support 
from staff 

 

 

Review this as part of the development of the Kirklees 
Commitment to Care Leavers. 

 

When supported lodgings providers are trained, young 
people should be involved 

 

 

Review this as part of the development of the Kirklees 
Commitment to Care Leavers. 

P
age 40



22 
 

 
The Leaving Care Grant should be £250 higher to 
reflect the higher cost of living 

 

Consider, by comparing the Kirklees Leaving Care Grant with 
other authorities and gathering local evidence. 

 

 
When a young person leaves care, they should have 
accommodation available 

 
The Specialist Accommodation Board is looking at needs for 
specific groups. Young people leaving care are included as a 
specific group. Discussions are already taking place between 
the Council and local partners. 
 

  

P
age 41



23 
 

APPENDIX 2: Working Service Action Plan 
Service Lead: HEAD OF CORPORATE PARENTING 
Board responsible for monitoring: CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
Update: AT LEAST SIX MONTHLY 
 
NOTE: This action plan is a high-level summary of what we are doing to improve sufficiency. The needs and outcomes of children 
we support or who are in our care are always our first consideration in any placement decision. The measures we have most direct 
influence over are the number of in-house placements (in purchasing and converting more properties) and placement stability (in 
making the right placement decision first time round and by effectively listening to the voice of our looked after children). 
 
A more detailed action plan to help staff from across the service see how their teams help deliver this strategy will be developed 
with those staff over the coming year. We will consider similar engagement with partners. 
 

Indicator What it’s 

like now? 

(31st July 

2018) 

What will be done before the 

end of 2019? 

Comments 

% of Looked 
After Children 
placed outside 
Kirklees and 
more than 20 
miles from 
home 

17% of all 
looked after 
children 
 
We are working 
to decrease this 

Standards to be in place 
Every 6-months, the Corporate 
Parenting Board will review progress 
against the indicators and actions in 
this Action Plan 
 
At least every three months, the Head of 
Corporate Parenting will meet the 

This is an Interim Strategy that sets out what we 
will do whilst developing the detailed knowledge 
base to get a longer-term Strategy right. The 
main local challenge is a lack of local places. It 
takes time to develop high-quality local 
placements. Our focus on improving the support 
offer to foster-carers will also not have an 
immediate effect, but will in the long-run. P

age 42



24 
 

CCGs, Virtual School, and external 
placement providers to discuss local 
health, education, and accommodation 
needs  
 
At least every three months, the Head of 
Service for Assessment and 
Intervention will meet the CCGs, Virtual 
School, and external placement 
providers to discuss early-help services 

# of children in 
care that have 
three or more 
placement 
moves a year 

8.4% of all 
looked after 
children 
 
We are working 
to decrease this 

Actions 
The Virtual School Headteacher will 
develop new services and resources for 
the education, health, and wellbeing 
needs of complex children 
 
In 2019, the Placements Team Service 
Manager will create a Quality 
Assurance Officer role within the 
Placements Team 
 
Standards to be in place 
When children and young people 
identify good practice in their 
placements, the Children’s Rights Team 
Manager will collect and communicate 
it 
 

The chief preventable reason for placement 
moves is that the placement doesn’t meet all of 
the child or young person’s needs, including 
care, education, and health needs. By continually 
learning what works well in our residential and 
family-setting placements, we can encourage 
good practice that is based on real experience.  
 
By involving the Virtual School at the earliest 
possible stage, we can ensure that our children 
and young people’s education needs are fully met 
in any new placement.  
 
Going missing is an indication that something is 
wrong and it’s important that we figure out what 
that is through timely return interviews.  P

age 43



25 
 

On a regular basis, the Children’s 
Rights Team will hold regular informal 
consultations with young people on 
foster care recruitment and developing 
new residential homes 
 
When a placement decision has to be 
made, the Placements Team will involve 
the Virtual School at the earliest 
possible stage 
 
Within 72 hours of one of our children 
or young people returning from being 
missing, every child or young person 
will receive a return interview with a 
person they trust, which might be 
someone not involved in their care, in 
line with the statutory guidance 
 
When agreeing a Care Plan with 
fostered children, the Fostering Team 
will ensure it is outcome-focussed 
 
The Resource Panel will meet regularly 
to ensure there is senior management 
oversight of all placements 

 
The new Resource Panel provides an important 
check that service decisions reflect overall 
requirements. 

P
age 44



26 
 

# of approved 
foster care 
households 

192 
 
We are working 
to increase this 

Actions 
The Head of Corporate Parenting will 
meet with the Centre for Applied 
Childhood, Youth and Family Research 
(CACYFR) at Huddersfield University to 
find opportunities for collaborative 
research into the recruitment and 
retention of foster carers 
 
In 2019, the Service Manager for 
Fostering will survey existing and 
former foster carers on their support 
needs 
 
In 2019, the Service Manager for 
Fostering will develop new training and 
support models that better meet the 
identified support needs of foster carers 
 
We will take time to properly assess 
both: 

- The recommendations from Sir 
Martin Narey and Mark Owers’s 
independent review into foster 
care in England, including its 36 

We expect many foster carers to be retiring soon. 
We know that word of mouth is the strongest 
advert for foster carers, so we will focus efforts 
on providing the best quality support to existing 
foster carers and encourage them to talk to 
people they know. 
 
The independent review into foster care in 
England and the UK Government’s response 
provide an important opportunity for us to learn 
from a national perspective, and improve local 
provision in an intelligence-led manner. 
 

P
age 45

https://research.hud.ac.uk/institutes-centres/cacs/
https://research.hud.ac.uk/institutes-centres/cacs/
https://research.hud.ac.uk/institutes-centres/cacs/


27 
 

recommendations (February 
2018, link); and 

- the UK Government’s response, 
including their own analysis and 
recommendations (July 2018, 
link). 

 
Standards to be in place 
Every two months, the Head of 
Corporate Parenting will meet with the 
local Foster Care Association to identify 
good practice and challenges in our 
support and recruitment/retention of 
foster carers. 

# of in-house 
placements 
(residential and 
family-setting) 

48% of all 
looked after 
children in 
foster care in 
in-house foster 
 
We are working 
to increase this 

Standards to be in place 
At least every three months, the Head of 
Corporate Parenting will hold meetings 
with external providers to understand 
their future plans and how they impact 
on our provision. 
 
In 2019, the Head of Corporate 
Parenting will continue to meet 
regularly with the Specialist 
Accommodation Board to help identify 

We are looking to have more small residential 
homes, which will mean the number of homes 
will go up. This will be a significant investment. 
We will balance that with financial sustainability. 
Converting existing homes into residential 
children’s homes is cheaper and quicker than 
building new homes. 
 
Our children and young people in residential care 
have told us they feel safer and enjoy home more 
when they are in smaller residential homes. They 
highlighted how larger homes have more P

age 46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/foster-care-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fostering-better-outcomes


28 
 

sites potentially convertible into 
children’s homes. 

children and young people with more complex 
needs together and that this heightens the risk of 
conflict and disorder in the home. 
 
We know that external providers are significant 
local providers. If they decide to provide more or 
less local placements, we need to know as far in 
advance as possible, to prepare for any resulting 
changes in local demand. Also, telling external 
providers what our children and young people’s 
needs are and how we expect them to change will 
help ensure local services match local demand. 

# of care 
leavers in 
suitable 
accommodation 

90% 
 
We are working 
to increase this 

Action 
Develop the Kirklees Commitment to 
Care Leavers 
 
Standards 
We will continue to improve our support 
for young people entering adulthood, 
including a range of appropriate semi-
independent accommodation 
placements and high quality personal 
advisor support. 

We have seen an improvement since July 2018. 
The 2017 England average was 84%. The 2017 
average for our statistical neighbours was 88.4%. 

 

Next strategy 
A five-year strategy produced in 2020, led by the Head of Corporate Parenting. P

age 47



29 
 

Data development agenda 
What will be done? 

The Head of Education, Safeguarding, and Inclusion is coordinating the work around the High Needs Review, which is providing 
us with an understanding of: 

- % of our children who need specialist health support 
- % who need specialist education support and/or placement 

Other measures are under development. We also want to know: 
- % of local partners reporting high levels of confidence with locality early-help services 
- % of partners who report improved satisfaction with partnership arrangements / joint working 
- # of children and young people moved outside of Kirklees that have complex needs (emotional, behavioural, educational, 

and health) 
 

P
age 48



A guide to equality Impact Assessments (EIAs)

What are Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs)?
           EIAs are a tool to help you analyse and make more considered decisions about changes to service 
delivery, policy and practice. An EIA will help you to identify how specific communities of interest may be 
affected by decisions and to consider any potential discriminatory impact on people with protected 
           EIAs can also help to improve or promote equality by encouraging you to identify ways to remove 
barriers and improve participation for people with a protected characteristic.

Why do we need to do Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs)?
           Although not a mandatory requirement, EIAs provide important evidence of how we have considered the 
implications of service and policy changes and demonstrate how we have met our legal Public Sector Equality 
           The three main elements of the Public Sector Equality Duty are:
   Eliminating discrimination
   Promoting equality of opportunity 
   Fostering good relations
           In fulfilling our Public Sector Equality Duty we must ensure that we demonstrate that we have followed a 
number of key principles  (based on previous case law):
   Knowledge
   Timeliness
   Real consideration
   Sufficient information
   No delegation
   Review
   Proper record keeping
           We need to provide evidence that we have given due regard to any potential discriminatory impact 
on people with protected characteristics in shaping policy, in delivering and making changes to services, and 
           We must always consider whether a service change, decision or policy could have a discriminatory 
impact on people with protected characteristics, not just any impact that is the same as it would be for everyone 
           The EIA tool allows us to capture, demonstrate and publish our rationale of how we have considered 
our communities and legal responsibilities under the Public Sector Equality Duty and is our main way of 

          But above all, EIAs are about understanding and meeting the needs of local people and 
supporting us to deliver our vision for Kirklees.

When do we need to do Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs)?
           Whenever you plan to change, introduce or remove a service, activity or policy. 
           At the VERY BEGINNING of any process of:
 Budget setting
 Service review (including changes to employment practice)
 Planning new projects and work programmes
 Policy development and review
 Procurement or commissioning activity

Who should do it?
           Overall responsibility for EIAs lies at a service level. A lead officer should be appointed from the service 
area that is making a proposal and all decisions should be approved by the senior management team in that 
           Those directly affected (partners, stakeholders, voluntary groups, communities, equality groups etc) 
should be engaged with as part of the process.

How should we do it?
      Our EIA process has two stages: 

Stage 1 - initial screening assessment
Stage 2 - further assessment and evidence 

Page 49



Page 50



EIA STAGE 1 – SCREENING TOOL (initial assessment)

Steve Comb (Head of Corporate Parenting)

Steve Comb (Head of Corporate Parenting)

12/11/18

The purpose of this screening tool is to help you consider the potential impact of your proposal at 
an early stage.

Please give details of your service/lead officer then complete sections 1-3:
1) What is your proposal?
2) What level of impact do you think your proposal will have?
3) How are you using advice and evidence/intelligence to help you?

You will then receive your stage 1 assessment score and advice on what to do what next.

Children's Interim Sufficiency 
Strategy & Action Plan (2019)

Corporate Parenting

Children

Directorate:

Service:

Specific Service Area/Policy: Date of EIA (Stage 1):

Lead Officer responsible for EIA:

Senior Officer responsible for policy/service:

Move to next 
sectionGo back

Page 51



Please select 
YES or NO

YES

YES

YES

YES

YES

NO
To start charging for (or increase the charge for) a service or activity (i.e. 
ask people to pay for or to pay more for something)

Please briefly outline your proposal and the overall aims/purpose of making this change:
The Strategy sets out how the Council and partners will work together to increase the availability 
of local placements for our looked after children to meet the statutory requirements of Section 
22G of the Children Act 1989. It has been produced with statutory guidance in mind, including 
‘Securing Sufficient Accommodation for Looked after Children’ (2010)  The key measures, 
alongside effective early support, include increasing the number of local foster placements 
through improved support and targeted campaigning, reducing the proportion of children moving 
placements, and better understanding our children and young people’s accommodation, health, 
and education needs. 

1)  WHAT IS YOUR PROPOSAL?

To introduce a service, activity or policy (i.e. start doing something)

To remove a service, activity or policy (i.e. stop doing something)

To reduce a service or activity (i.e. do less of something)

To increase a service or activity (i.e. do more of something)

To change a service, activity or policy (i.e. redesign it)

Move to next 
section

Go back

Page 52



Level of Impact

Please select from drop down

Neutral

Not Known

Positive

Very Positive

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Positive

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

…religion &  

belief

…sex

…sexual 

orientation

…age

…disability

…gender 

reassignment

…marriage/ civil 

partnership

…pregnancy & 

maternity

…race

(Think about how your proposal might affect, either positively or negatively, any individuals/communities. Please 
consider the impact for both employees and residents - within these protected characteristic groups).

Please select from drop down

2) WHAT LEVEL OF IMPACT DO YOU THINK YOUR PROPOSAL WILL 
HAVE ON…

Each of the following protected characteristic groups?

Kirklees employees within this service/directorate? (overall)

Residents across Kirklees? (i.e. most/all local people)

Please tell us which area/ward will be affected:

Kirklees residents living in a specific ward/local area?

Existing service users?

Go back
Move to next 

section

Page 53



Please select YES or 

NO

YES

…employees? YES

…Kirklees residents? YES

…service users? YES

…any protected characteristic groups? YES

Please select from 

drop down

TO SOME EXTENT

FULLY

Do you have any evidence/intelligence to support your 
assessment (in section 2) of the impact of your proposal 

on…

Have you taken any specialist advice linked to your proposal? (Legal, HR etc)?

3) HOW ARE YOU USING ADVICE AND EVIDENCE/INTELLIGENCE TO HELP YOU?

Children looked after in England (including adoption), year ending 31 March 2017' 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664995/SFR50_2017-
Children_looked_after_in_England.pdf

'Children looked after in England (including adoption), year ending 31 March 2017: additional tables'
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664998/SFR50_2017_A
dditional_Tables_Text.pdf

Consultation with partners, as detailed in the public Cabinet report

Internal indicators and monitoring

Meetings with the Children in Care Council and Care Leavers Forum (as detailed in the strategy document)

Narey and Owers, 'Foster Care in England'
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/foster-care-in-england

UK Goverment, 'Fostering better outcomes'
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fostering-better-outcomes

UK Government, 'Promoting the education of looked-after and previously-looked after children', statutory guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children

To what extent do you feel you are able to mitigate any potential negative impact of your proposal on 
the different groups of people outlined in section 2?

To what extent do you feel you have considered your Public Sector Equality Duty?

Move to next 
section

Go back

Page 54



STAGE 1 ASSESSMENT

IMPACT RISK
Based on scoring of Based on scoring of 

1) and 2) 2) and 3)

2 16
SCORE (calculated) SCORE (calculated)

Max = - / + 32 Max risk = - / + 40
You need to move on to complete a Stage 2 assessment if:

The final Impact score is negative and or the Risk score is negative.

Go back

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2: Interests
	7: Healthy Weight Declaration
	8a - Kirklees Council Declaration

	8: Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & Action Plan (2019)
	9b - Children's Interim Sufficiency Strategy 2019
	9c - Stage 1 EIA Children's Sufficiency Strategy 2019


